1967

Marvin R. Cox v. J.R. Berry v. L.P Slagle Joseph
Anderson Vivian Schellar, Robert Graham and
Riley Draper : Appellant's Brief On Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by plaintiff Marvin R. Cox to recover certain funds allegedly borrowed by the defendant J. R. Berry as part of the purchase price for the purchase of the Homestead Hotel in Wasatch County. Defendant J. R. Berry filed a third-party complaint wherein he alleged to have been acting in a corporate capacity for Zions Investment Corporation, and claimed that by reason of certain hold harmless agreements be-

tween himself and the third-party defendants that said third-party defendants would be liable to him for any amount found owing to the plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The third-party defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss supported by affidavits. A counter-affidavit was filed by J. R. Berry in opposition to the Motion to Dismiss. The matter was heard before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, Judge of the Third Judicial District, and the Motion to Dismiss was granted in the form of a Summary Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the Summary Judgment of the District Court, and reinstatement of his third-party complaint against the third-party defendants.

The issues in this appeal relate solely to the issues between defendant and third-party plaintiff J. R. Berry and third-party defendants L. P. Slagle, Joseph Anderson, Vivian Schellar, Robert Graham and Riley Draper.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Inasmuch as the trial court granted a Summary Judgment in favor of the respondents, the Supreme Court is obliged to consider the facts in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion is made, which in this case is the appellant J. R. Berry. *Whitman*

vs. W. T. Grant Company, 16 Utah 2d 81, 395 P.2d 918. In this regard and for the purposes of this appeal, the facts as alleged in appellant's affidavit must therefore be considered as being true. Those facts are as follows (R-21):

1. That J. R. Berry is the defendant and third-party plaintiff in the above-entitled case.

2. That prior to November 11, 1965, J. R. Berry was president and a member of the board of directors of Zions Investment Corporation, a Utah corporation.

3. That prior to November 11, 1965, Zions Investment Corporation had acquired and was operating a certain property consisting of a resort in Wasatch County, Utah known as the "Homestead"; that when the Homestead property was purchased, J. R. Berry personally became obligated on various notes and obligations of the corporation in order to raise the necessary capital to make this purchase; that in order to secure the loans, advances, pledges of credit and guarantees which J. R. Berry made to the corporation, the Homestead property was held in the name of J. R. Berry; that all of the parties, including the officers, directors and stockholders of the corporation recognized the Homestead property as being the property of the corporation, and further recognized and acknowledged the security interest of J. R. Berry in and to said property; that on November 11, 1965, J. R. Berry still claimed a security interest in the Homestead property and record title to the property was in his name.

4. That in addition to the Homestead property, prior to November 11, 1965, J. R. Berry personally had agreed to guarantee other loans and obligations of the corporation.

5. That prior to November 11, 1965, various conflicts, disputes and disagreements arose between J. R. Berry and the other directors of the corporation; that J. R. Berry was requested to resign as president and director of the corporation; and that at a duly-called meeting of the board of directors held on November 11, 1965, in which all directors were given notice, and a quorum was present, including all of the third-party defendants, J. R. Berry agreed to resign as president and director of the corporation and to convey to the corporation the Homestead property on the condition that the third-party defendants personally agree to hold him harmless from any and all debts and obligations of the corporation for which he had become personally liable; that thereupon at said meeting the parties prepared two copies in longhand of Exhibit 2 attached to defendant's Third-Party Complaint (R-6); that all of the parties signed and executed said agreement and that J. R. Berry retained one copy, and the other executed copy was delivered to third-party defendants; that it was never the intention of any of the parties that any other directors sign the agreement other than those present at the meeting of November 11, 1965.

6. That following the meeting of November 11, 1965, and prior to the conveyance of the Homestead property to the corporation, all of the parties concluded that their

agreement should be reduced to a more formal instrument, and thus the document attached to defendant's Third-Party Complaint as Exhibit 3 (R-6a) was executed by the parties on November 17, 1965; that L. P. Slagle and Vivian Schellar were not present at the meeting of November 17, 1965, but that the remaining third-party defendants represented that they were in fact acting for and on behalf of the two absent parties, and that it would be unnecessary for them to sign the instruments; that based upon said representation and upon the prior agreement, J. R. Berry delivered to third-party defendants the conveyances to the Homestead property, thereby giving up his security interest; that all of the third-party defendants did immediately thereafter record or cause to be recorded said conveyances.

7. That J. R. Berry further in accordance with the agreement, did in fact resign as president and director of Zions Investment Corporation, and thereafter took no voice in the control and management of the corporation.

8. That the books and records of Zions Investment Corporation show a resolution in the following words:

"Discussion was had on the offer of Mr. Berry, in the best interest of the corporation, to resign as an officer and director, subject to his being held harmless from any contingent or direct liabilities he incurred while serving in such capacities. Upon motion of Graham, seconded by Anderson, the following resolution was unanimously adopted:

BE IT RESOLVED: That the resignation of Jack R. Berry be accepted, effective immediately,

and the corporation, and their directors, agree to fully hold him harmless from any claim of any kind asserted against him by reason of his activities as an officer and director of the corporation, including the several notes and mortgages upon which Mr. Berry appears as obligor, the proceeds of which were received by the corporation, and excepting from the said hold harmless provision, any and all acts of said Berry for and on behalf of the corporation determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to constitute a willful or intentional violation of law."

That the above resolution is signed by J. R. Berry and by all of the above-named third-party defendants.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENTS BETWEEN J. R. BERRY AND THE OTHER DIRECTORS OF THE CORPORATION ARE NOT VOID AS BEING AGAINST PUBLIC POLICY, NOR DO THEY LACK LEGAL CONSIDERATION.

The Summary Judgment of the trial court does not state the ground upon which it is based. However, the principal point argued in the trial court involved the question as to whether the agreements of the directors to hold J. R. Berry harmless from debts of the corporation were illegal and void because the consideration therefore, either in whole or in part, was Berry's agreement to resign as president and director of the corporation. In appellant's opinion, this is the only point raised in respondents' motion involving strictly a question of law. It was successfully urged by the respondents in the lower court that such an agreement amounts to the

equivalent of a trustee being "bought out of office" and is contrary to public policy.

Appellant recognizes the general rule cited at §348 *Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations*, Vol. 2, to the effect that a corporate officer may not resign his position of trust for a pecuniary consideration, and that such an agreement is illegal and void. Fletcher points out that a director cannot accept payment for his resignation, *Mitchell vs. Dilbeck*, 10 Cal. 2d 341, 74 P.2d 233; that a director cannot resign in consideration of the corporation promising not to sue on his note given to the corporation, *T. F. Pagel Lumber Company vs. Webster*, 231 Wis. 222, 285 N.W. 739; and directors cannot resign en masse and sell stock at an excessive price to permit looting of the corporation by new officers, *Gerde vs. Reynolds*, 28 N.Y.S. 2d 622. It is submitted by the appellant that the rule of law stated by Fletcher, and the cases therein cited, do not uphold the position of respondents that an agreement merely to hold an officer or director harmless from an obligation in which the corporation is already the principal obligor is not a pecuniary consideration as that term is used in the cases, nor is it the type of thing that by nature should be void as against public policy.

Fletcher at §348, *Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations*, Vol. 2, after setting forth the general rule, also points out types of resignation agreements that are legal and not objectionable. The last sentence of said paragraph provides as follows:

"Where the person advancing the money necessary for working capital demanded that he be

elected president, it is proper for the directors to endeavor to secure the resignation of the person then president, and the latter may impose as a condition of his resignation, it seems, that he receive the amount owing him by the company and a reasonable allowance for giving up his salaried position, and that his stock be taken off his hands."

In *Crespinel vs. Color Corporation of America*, Calif., 325 P.2d 565, an agreement to pay a monetary consideration by the corporation to a resigning officer was upheld. The court held that where there is a bona fide transaction and when it is in the best interest of the corporation that a director resign, a reasonable allowance may be made for his resignation.

In *Joseph vs. Rabb*, 81 N.Y.S. 546, it was held lawful for a director to resign for the best interest of the corporation and to condition his resignation on being relieved of his stock and paid the amount owing him and a reasonable allowance for giving up his position.

In *Ruffner vs. Sophie Mac Candy Corporation*, Georgia, 132 S.E. 396, it was held that a corporation may in good faith to serve its best interests, accept the resignation of its director-president, and in consideration purchase his shares of the corporation at an agreed valuation.

In *Mooney vs. Overland Willeys Motor Corporation*, 204 F.2d 888, a director resigned after a derivative suit had been instituted against him, and in consideration the corporation agreed to indemnify him for expenses in

connection therewith. It was held in the absence of an ulterior motive such a contract was enforceable.

At 28 *University of Cincinnati Law Review* 380, appears a case note on the Crespinel case. In that article the author, after analyzing the recent cases, acknowledges that as a general rule, any bona fide agreement will be upheld.

§ 16-10-4 (o) Utah Code Annotated gives a corporation the power to indemnify directors and officers from expenses of litigation arising from their activities while acting as a corporate officer. If by statute a corporation can indemnify an officer for litigation expenses, it would seem that there should be no public policy against a corporation or its directors agreeing to indemnify an officer from an obligation where the corporation is already the principal debtor.

In the case before the court, J. R. Berry did not receive any payment for his resignation. Although he was a large stockholder, he did not ask that the corporation or the remaining directors purchase his stock; he also had a salaried position with the corporation and asked for nothing as an allowance for giving up his position. The only thing he bargained for was that the remaining directors hold him harmless from corporate obligations, which as a matter of agency law the corporation as principal obligor would be required to do anyway. The cases cited by Fletcher in support of the general rule all seem to involve a detriment to the corporation or its stockholders. Here there is no detriment

or loss to the corporation. The corporation is actually in a better position from the standpoint of its creditors because of the additional personal guarantees. There is no evidence that the agreements were made in bad faith. The directors requested Berry to resign and agreed to hold him harmless from corporate obligations. The parties to the agreement were all fully competent to enter into a contractual obligation, and it would be unconscionable to permit respondents to now completely ignore and evade their solemn promises.

POINT II

THE REMAINING GROUNDS FOR RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS INVOLVE EITHER FACTUAL OR IMMATERIAL ISSUES, AND WOULD NOT SUPPORT A JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL.

In their Motion to Dismiss, respondents set forth several other grounds in support of the motion. These grounds, for the most part, involve factual questions and would not be a proper basis for a judgment of dismissal. Appellant will treat each of these grounds separately.

A. *Contention that the Agreements Lack Consideration.*

Respondents have claimed that the hold harmless agreements are invalid because they lack consideration. The consideration claimed is (1) Berry's agreement to resign as an officer and director of the corporation and (2) Berry's agreement to give up his security interest in the Homestead property. Appellant submits that either of these considerations would support a valid

contract. As to the agreement to resign, the authorities are covered under Point I of this brief. As to the giving up of the security interest, respondents have claimed that because of representations in the corporate prospectus and otherwise to the effect that the corporation was the owner of the Homestead property that Berry had a pre-existing duty to convey the property to the corporation. Berry never has claimed to be the owner of the Homestead property but claimed to be holding the title only as security for the liabilities he had personally undertaken for the corporation. His affidavit alleges that the corporation and all of its officers and directors acknowledged and recognized his security interest in the property. Whether J. R. Berry had such a security interest is strictly a question of fact.

B. Contention that the Hold Harmless Agreements are Conditional Upon All Directors Signing.

The hold harmless agreements relied upon by J. R. Berry consist of three documents. They are (1) the hand written agreement found at page 6 of the record herein, (2) the corporate resolutions signed by all parties and entered into the minute book of the corporation as shown at paragraph 8 of Berry's affidavit (R-24), and (3) the formalized agreement found at page 6-A of the record herein.

The first two documents referred to above were signed by all of the third-party defendants. The third document was signed by three of the five third-party defendants.

17 *C.J.S. Contracts* §62 sets out the general rules with respect to the required number of signatures on a contract. Beginning at page 735, it is stated as follows:

“The question as to whether those who have signed are bound is generally to be determined by the intention and understanding of the parties at the time of the execution of the instrument. The reason for holding the instrument void is that it was intended that all the parties should execute it and that each executes it on the implied condition that it is to be executed by the others, and, therefore, that until executed by all it is inchoate and incomplete and never takes effect as a valid contract, and this is especially true where the agreement expressly provides, or its manifest intent is, that it is not to be binding until signed.

“Where these reasons do not apply, it is usually held that a party who signs and delivers an instrument is bound by the obligations therein assumed, although it is not executed by all of the parties named in it, as, for example, where all the parties recognize the validity of the contract and acquiesce in its performance. Usually, however, a party may, on signing, impose an enforceable condition that the agreement is not to be binding until signed by others.

“It is competent for the parties to adopt a written instrument as their contract without signing it, provided their intention to do so is clear.”

Cases cited for the above rule are as follows:

Kaneko vs. Okuda, 195 C.A. 2d 217, 15 Cal. Rptr. 292, holding that in the absence of showing that contract is not to be deemed complete unless signed by all parties, parties signing may be bound though others have not signed.

Elick vs. Schiller, Texas, 235 S.W. 2d 494, holding a contract is binding on those who sign it, in absence of a showing that signature was obtained by trick or artifice.

Winter vs. Kitto, California, 279 Pac. 1024, holding that where sufficient consideration for signers agreement is shown from the instrument itself, signer cannot be released because other persons failed to sign.

Bank of U.S. vs. Chemical Bank & Trust Company, 246 N.Y.S. 595, holding that one signing and delivering an instrument not signed by all parties intended is bound unless signer indicates to obligee intent not to be bound until others sign.

Schlosberg vs. Shannan and Luchs Company, D.C., 53 A. 2d 722, holding that mere expectation that another will sign does not necessarily prevent those signing from being bound even though expected party does not sign.

In the instant case, the affidavit of J. R. Berry states that it was not the intention of any of the parties that any additional parties sign the first two instruments. Again, this involves a question of fact. The evidence would show that appellant and third-party defendants were all of the directors present at the meeting where the documents were signed and that there was no discussion that any other party would sign the same. Further, the third typewritten document had the names of the five third-party defendants typed in for signature, indicating that there was no intent for any additional signatures.

As to the third instrument, it is true that it was contemplated that five parties should sign. Whether

the three who signed intended to be bound is again a question of fact. Berry's affidavit alleges that the signers expressly stated to him that it would be unnecessary for others to sign. They accepted the instruments conveying the homestead property and recorded them. It would seem that after having accepted the benefits of their bargain they cannot now say that they had no intention to be bound. In any event, either of the first two documents would impose liability upon all of the third-party defendants even if the third document, which was signed by only three of the respondents, were a complete legal nullity.

C. Contention that the Agreements Were Conditional Upon the Corporation Signing the Agreement.

It was contended in respondent's motion to dismiss that the first agreement, the hand written agreement, was not properly executed by the corporation because it was signed by Joseph Anderson, Secretary. The signature line does not say Secretary of what. This contention is completely without merit. Mr. Anderson signed the agreement in two places — once for himself personally and once as secretary for the corporation. The agreement refers to Zions Investment Corporation so there can be no misunderstanding as to what corporation signed the agreement. Mr. Anderson, as shown by his affidavit, also is in fact the secretary of Zions Investment Corporation. The only possible interpretation is that Mr. Anderson signed the agreement for himself and for Zions Investment Corporation. Even if the corporation had not signed this agreement, it would be immaterial as to the liability of the third-party defendants. This

is so (1) because of the same reasons and authorities cited under Point II B. of this brief and (2) the corporation, as principal obligor, would be liable to Berry anyway for obligations of the corporation which Berry personally guaranteed.

D. Contention that Berry Did Not Resign.

Respondents claims that the hold harmless agreement was invalid because Berry did not resign his office as President and Director of the corporation. This is clearly a factual matter. Berry's affidavit states that he did resign. There is also a corporate resolution signed by all of the parties accepting the resignation.

According to §346 Fletcher Cyclopedia Corporations, Vol. 2, the resignation of an officer is a factual question and all that need be shown is something evidencing a clear intent to resign. Further, the resignation need not take place at a regular corporate meeting.

E. Contention that the Meeting of November 11 Wherein The First Hold Harmless Agreement Was Signed Was Not a Valid Meeting.

Respondents have contended that the corporate meeting of November 11 wherein the first hold harmless agreement was signed was not a valid meeting because the notices of the meeting were two days late in getting out.

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