1967

Marvin R. Cox v. J.R. Berry v. L.P Slagle Joseph
Anderson Vivian Schellar, Robert Graham and
Riley Draper : Respondent's Brief On Appeal

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

Fletcher, Cyclopaedia or Corporation Law, Per. ed. Section 348 declares the law applicable to the present fact situation to be as follows:

Sec. 348. Validity of agreement to resign for pecuniary consideration.

It has been held that an agreement to resign as a corporate officer, for a pecuniary consideration, is void as against public policy. Thus, it has been said that if the whole or a part of a consideration be that a trustee resign his trust, the consideration is illegal. It is *contra bona mores*. Trustees of corporations owe duties to others besides themselves; they have been placed in a position of trust by the stockholders, and to those stockholders they must be faithful. It is a violation of that trust for them to be *bought out of office*. They may resign when they please, but they must not make profit or benefit to themselves in the matter of such resignation. 61 *Sharrett v. Northfield Savings & Loan Assn.*, 272 App. Div. 835, 70 N.Y.S. (2d) 870, citing *Fletcher Cyc. Corp. (Perm. Ed.)* Sec. 348. *Forbes v. McDonald* 54 Cal. 98; *Ballentine v. Ferretti*, 28 N.Y.S. (2d) 668.

In other words, directors cannot accept payment in any form or guise for their resignations and delivery of control or for the substitution of others in their place and are accountable for any monies so received. 62 *Mitchell v. Dilbeck* 10 Cal. 2d 341, 74 P.2d 233; *McClure v. Law* 161 N.Y. 78, 55 N.E. 338, 76 Am. St. Rep. 262; *Gerdes v. Reynolds*, 28 N.Y.S. 2d 822, 651, s.c. 30 N.Y. 2d 755; *Porter v. Healey* 244 Pa. 427, 91 Atl. 428. Note 1 *Dodd & Baker, Cases on Business Associations* 604.

Contract to cause directors to resign and for others to be named by another corporation is *ultra vires*

under New Jersey law *Hold v. California Development Company* 151 Fed. 3, and *T.F. Pagel Lumber Co. v. Webster* 231 Wis. 222, 285 N.W. 739. (Italics supplied for emphasis.)

A brief analysis of some of the cases cited by *Fletcher, supra*, will show the wide application of the general rule that selling one's offices by resigning for economic gain or profit is illegal.

The first paragraph above under Sec. 348 within quote marks is quoted verbatim from the 1880 California case of *Forbes et al. v. McDonald et. al.* 54 Cal. 98 at p. 100. It is the corporate law today and has been ever since 1880 in a situation which exists here. It was *contra bona mores* for Mr. J. R. Berry to attempt to bargain away his offices of Director and President for a valuable pecuniary consideration. Neither he nor those claiming through him can legally state any claim for relief on such grounds.

In the case of *Sharrett v. Northfield Savings and Loan Association* 1947, 272 App. Div. 835, 70 N.Y. Supp (2d) 870 which cites *Fletcher on Corporations* on the above question; the plaintiff sought to enforce payment of a life pension alleging that the Port Richmond Association (merged into the defendant) contracted with him to that if he would resign his offices of director and secretary and refrain from seeking reelection to office, and remove his real estate and insurance office from the building in which the offices of the association were located, the association would give him a pension for life paying him \$200 per month.

Held, the contract to resign as a director for a personal

benefit to himself was a legally insufficient consideration.

In the above case part of the consideration given would have been good and valid consideration had it been given by itself. However, in the earlier case of *Ballantine v. Ferretti* 1941, 28 N.Y. Supp. (2d) 688 the court broadly declared that:

Contracts by which corporate officers or directors take pay "(economic benefits)" for their action as such are contrary to public policy, because of their nature and general tendency, without inquiry into any given case whether harm resulted in fact or whether complaint was actually made and that the law would not ordinarily undertake to apportion the entire consideration paid upon an illegal transaction merely because the transaction would have been legal if part of it had been eliminated,—.

The Supreme Court of New York in *Gerdes v. Reynolds* 1941, 28 N.Y.S. 2d 622, 625 declared flatly the law to be:

A corporate officer cannot legally "accept pay in any form or guise, direct or devious for their own resignation." (note 19.)

In the case of *T. F. Pagel Lumber Co. v. Webster* 1939, 231 Wis. 222, 285 N.W. 789, one of the defenses raised by Webster on an action on his promissory note was that he had agreed to resign and did resign as director and manager of the company. On the defense of such resignation as consideration the Wisconsin Supreme Court wrote:

If Pagel agreed to resign in consideration of a promise not to sue on his note, the contract was illegal and void because contrary to public policy 13 Am. Jr. 869 Sec. 888. See *Koelbel v. Tecktonius* 1938, 228 Wis. 317, 280 N.W. 305.

Plaintiff Berry agrees with the above statements of law (Plfs. brief 7), but argues that an alleged agreement to pay the debts of another is not an agreement of pecuniary or measurable monetary value. This argument is palpably unsound. The measure if Berry could prevail would be \$5,000 plus 10% interest.

Plaintiff also argues that the above rule of law is not applicable to his case. He cites four cases each of which presents an entirely different fact situation from this case. The facts of this case fall squarely within the above rule of law. There is here no negotiation for an agreed sale of Mr. Berry's stock to the corporation or the directors, which would by itself be a valid contract. There is here no dispute regarding J. R. Berry's salary of \$1,000 per month being unpaid or any agreement whatever regarding that item. There is not in the alleged memorandum agreement of 11-11-65 *supra* any consideration recited other than the naked and exclusive offer to resign and the alleged resignation of J. R. Berry as President and Director.

An enlarged but brief analysis of the cases cited by plaintiff will show their inapplicability to the fact-situation here. The SALE OF STOCK CASES cited by Plaintiff except the pertinent, California *Mitchell* case, which is added here, are:

Joseph v. Ruff (1903) 81 N.Y. Supp. 546, *Mitchell v. Dilbeck* (1937) 10 Cal. 2d 341, 74 P. 2d 233, *Mooney v. Willis Overland Motors* (1953) 204 Fed. 2d 888, and *Raffner v. Sophie Mae Candy Corporation* (1926) 132 S.E. 396.

The *Joseph* case was an action by the Trustee in Bankruptcy to set aside an alleged preferential transfer of corporate moneys to Mr. Ruff in the purchase of his stock by the corporation and the compromise of other claims which occurred more than four months prior to the filing in bankruptcy and while the corporation was still solvent. Held that the corporation could lawfully buy and pay for the stock as had been done while the corporation was solvent. The resignation was an incidental and necessary legal occurrence upon performance of the valid agreement for the sale and purchase of all of the Director's stock.

The *Mitchell* case, *supra*, upholds the general rule stated by Fletcher Section 348 *supra* in the following language:

“While directors may resign when they please, they must not make a profit to themselves in the matter of their resignation and to be bought out of office would be a violation of their trust. See authorities cited in 12 L.R.A. 1071.” The court affirmed the rule of *Forbes v. McDonald* 54 Cal. 98, the leading case declaring a situation like the alleged Berry Hold Harmless agreement is *contra bona mores*, a breach of trust, illegal and void.

The *Ruffner* case *supra*, was another case in which the corporation purchased all the stock of the Director and President, who thus disqualified himself for office and resigned as an incidental and legally necessary step to the valid sale of all of the stock of said person. The court held that the purchase of the stock and the concomitant resignation being in good faith and to serve the best

interests of the corporation was a *valid stock purchase by the corporation from its President and Director at reasonable value therefor* and declared that purchase by a corporation of its own stock is valid.

Where the stock is not retired but is held for resale and reissue and the purchase was not prejudicial to creditors after the transaction was completed.

The *Mooney* case *supra* like the other cases cited by plaintiff's attorney, David E. West, are cases mainly dealing with the question of whether a corporation can legally purchase stock from a director or whether such transaction may be set aside as improper dealing of an agent and trustee with his principal, the corporation.

The *Mooney* case, *supra*, was one in which the plaintiff stockholder had sold all his stock to the corporation and resigned and sought to recover from the corporation the expenses including legal fees for defending a minority stockholders suit against him under claim of statutory right of a Delaware statute 44 Del. Laws c. 125 Apr. 15, 1953 allowing such actions against the corporation by its director who had been sued for mismanagement or fraud.

The case involved the question of fact as to whether the director coming in had the best interests of the corporation at heart and the court comments on that fact in citing with approval the rule of illegality of bargaining a resignation of office for economic value and cites with approval "2 Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations Sec. 348", but again as in the other cases distinguishes the fact situation from the situation existing in the *Berry* case and in the cases cited by *Fletcher* Sec. 348, *supra*.

Nor can Third-party Plaintiff J. R. Berry take any comfort from the California case of *Crispinel v. Color Corporation of America* (1958) (2nd Dist. Cal. App.) 325 P. 2d 565. In that case plaintiff was employed for $\frac{1}{4}$ of full time in counselling the board and officers and employees at a salary of \$13,000 per month under a written contract which provided that (par. 6)

“Crespinel understands that it may be necessary for the business of the corporation that a seat on the board of directors be available, for instance in the event that other financial interests become associated with Cine color” and he agreed to terminate his employment and resign “at the request of the majority of the board.”

The request was made, the resignation had, a large sum in partial settlement paid to Crispinel. He, however, sued for \$14,500 claimed due, received judgment which was affirmed. The defense was that the agreement was illegal because it contained the agreement to resign at request of the board. The court held that the particular agreement was not violative of public policy but affirmed the general rule that an agreement like that of the *alleged Berry hold harmless agreement would be invalid in California*. The court in rendering its opinion in the *Crespinel* case wrote; after citing the case of *Trumbo v. Bank of Berkeley* 77 Cal. App. 704, 709, 176 P. 2d 376, 379 as establishing the general rule in the Berry situation:

A director may not contract away his discretionary vote or director's position for a consideration. Such agreement is violative of public policy and is void.

The Court in analyzing the particular facts of the

Crespinel case said that the particular contract was distinguishable from the situation wherein a director had bargained away his position as a director for a consideration. The consideration which Mr. Crispinel received was for his contract of services, not for his resignation.

Nor can any help be found for Mr. J. R. Berry in his desire to be free from all responsibility for his own bad management by having five directors pay all of his debts during more than two years except the debt which would amount to an embezzlement,—in the note in 28 *Cinn. L. Rev.* 380-81. That law note by some bright law student is centered around the *Crispenel* case, *supra*. After distinguishing the valid stock sale cases from the situation here of an attempt to force other directors to buy Mr. Berry out of office the note writer concludes; regarding the two distinguishable fact situations:

Where the circumstances appear questionable and the director has in fact 'sold out' a breach of his fiduciary duty becomes apparent and his contract would be void in spite of the statute permitting him to deal with his company.

The note writer is here referring to the amendment of the *California Corporation Code Sec. 820* (1952) which dispensed with the former rule disqualifying a director from dealing in any way with his corporation for his own benefit. If plaintiff wished to raise the question of a reasonable price for a resignation by a director and President, he should state the fact by affidavit that he was attempting to bargain away his offices for a certain or an approximate amount of thousands of dollars and then argue that the true figure would be reasonable under the

circumstances. This he has not done.

POINT II

THE UNFULFILLED CONDITIONS OF RESIGNATION EXPRESSLY STATED ON THE FACE OF EXHIBIT 2 DEFEATS THIRD-PARTY CLAIM FOR RELIEF.

Exhibit 2, the resignation instrument, is expressly conditional on its face. It is clearly not a bilateral agreement of promise for a promise. *Williston, Contracts* 1938 ed., Sec. 13.

It is stated as a unilateral, conditional act of resignation for contemplated future acts of saving harmless as indemnitors the drafter of the instrument provided that "the corporation and" (all) "existing directors save me harmless." The affidavit of Director Robert H. Graham shows that only five directors' names appear on Exhibit 2 out of nine directors other than Berry (R. 16, and see also Secretary Anderson's affidavit, R. 28, 37). The condition of all existing directors signing is not fulfilled. Exhibit 2 has no validity. If the offer is not accepted by performance of the act stated as a condition precedent then no unilateral contract arises. The condition of indemnification is not performed and Berry was still a Director, albeit an inactive one, until November 17, 1965 when the resignation became automatically effective by reason of corporate article SIXTH(c) (R. 28).

The second express condition on the face of Exhibit 2 is that the corporation—Zions Investment Corporation—should become a signing indemnitor on the alleged agreement. The instrument shows on its face that the corpor-

ation did not sign. Section 25-5-4 (2), Utah Code 1953 requires that an agreement to answer for the debt of another is void unless there is an agreement "in writing *subscribed* by the party to be charged." The purported signature "accepted Joseph A. Anderson Jr. Secretary" is merely *descriptio personae* of the individual signing and is not in law a subscribed signature of the corporation, Zions Investment Corporation.

The significance of a condition is declared as follows:

Williston, Contract, Vol. IV, 1936, Sec. 1244. "When non-compliance with a condition on which a contract is delivered by a surety relieves him from liability. If the surety delivers his contract to the creditor upon a condition or in return for a counter-promise, and the creditor fails to observe the condition or to keep the promise, he cannot hold the surety; but often the *surety's contract is not delivered by him directly to the creditor, but to the principal or a co-surety to whom some condition is stated. It is common situation for a surety to have signed a bond or other contract, and the principal or a co-surety who was expected to join in the contract, and whose name is perhaps recited in the instrument as a party, to have failed to execute it. The signature of the principal or co-surety may be altogether lacking, or it may appear to be signed without authority.*"

POINT III

ALLEGED MEMORANDUM AGREEMENT IS VOID FOR INDEFINITNESS OR IF REGARDED AS DEFINITE IS THEN VOID FOR ILLEGALITY IN AGREEING TO PAY ALL POSSIBLE CRIMINAL FINES AGAINST BERRY EXCEPT FOR EMBEZZELMENT.

One phrase in the memorandum reads:

. . . save me harmless from any and all activities which I participated in while President and Director of the corporation. (Excepting embezzlement.)

This should be construed most strongly against the drafter J. R. Berry. The word "activities" is broader than the word "debts." If the word "activities" be construed in its broadest meaning it would then make an agreement to pay all criminal fines which might be imposed for negligent or reckless driving of an automobile while Berry was President of the corporation and for violation of the state securities act, and for securing money by false pretenses by fraudulent representations made in selling stock and condominium units etc., except embezzlement. The word "activities" appears all too elastic to be definite enough to be contractual. *Williston, Contracts* 1938 ed., Sec. 37.

If the word "activities" be definite enough to be contractual and would, if otherwise valid, hold Mr. Berry harmless from criminal fines of any and all kinds except embezzlement then the memorandum is illegal as against public policy in tending to exonerate one from criminal responsibility of fines.

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